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In Massachusetts, an Honor Roll State, the recommended nurse-to-student ratio is one full time 
equivalent (FTE) certified nurse per 250 to 500 students.  Delaware, which requires a full time 
nurse for every school, is the only non-Honor Roll state that arguably meets the standard.   
 
New Jersey, another Honor Roll State, approaches compliance with this standard by requiring 
each district board of education to appoint at least one school physician and one full time 
equivalent certified school nurse.  Moreover, New Jersey law specifies that the exact number of 
nurses per school or per district be determined according to its size and needs.  Other states 
neither require nor provide authoritative recommendations by the state’s department of 
education and/or health.   
 
States face increased pressure as they deliver health services in a time of increasing demands.  
This pressure results from recent federal legislation requiring more services for an increasing 
number of students with special health care needs who attend public schools.   
 
Awareness in Schools 
 
Raising awareness of asthma and allergies in school is a fundamental step in moving toward 
developing policies to promote the health and safety of affected school students.  However, 
assessing state-wide policies in this domain is complicated because specific policies to support 
awareness activities tend to be locally based.  As a result, a state’s policy rubric may not 
accurately reflect school level programs about asthma and allergy.  Thus, the policy standard for 
this domain is articulated with more generality than the others: 
 

10.  State recognizes problem of asthma in schools and has begun to address it. 
11.  State recognizes problem of allergy in schools and has begun to address it. 
 

These standards target states that have a state asthma plan with goals and strategies for 
schools; those that are in the process of implementing a Coordinated School Health Program 
(CSHP) following the CDC model; and those that have school-specific asthma or allergy 
management programs. 
 

• Twenty-seven states (55%) have programs addressing asthma and eighteen (36%) have 
programs addressing allergies   

 
The CSHP model developed by CDC includes strategies for addressing asthma, and the CDC 
funds CSHP demonstration programs in many localities and states.  In some states, this 
program is well established, such as New Mexico and North Carolina.  Other states are 
embarking upon pilot CSHP programs or are in the early stages of adoption, such as Kentucky 
and Iowa.   
   
All Honor Roll states (100%) have specific asthma management plans and five (88.33%) have 
specific allergy management plans (Washington has only asthma).  The Honor Roll states tend 
to have developed their own models, although in some cases these coexist with a CSHP 
approach. 
 
Indoor Air Quality 
 
School air quality is an important consideration for children’s health.  AAFA’s core policy 
standards include three related to indoor air quality (IAQ):  
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12. State has mandated that all schools must have IAQ management policies. 
13. State has adopted a policy requiring that districts and schools conduct periodic 

inspections (of HVAC system & other items important in asthma/allergy management). 
14. State has IAQ policies that include specific components important in             

asthma/allergy management (HVAC, HEPA, carpeting, pesticide use). 
 
The states’ overall performance in this domain is weaker than others:   
 

• Only eight states (16%) mandate that all schools must have IAQ policies (Policy 
Standard # 12)   

• Twenty-eight states (56%) mandate inspections of HVAC system & other items 
important in asthma/allergy management (Policy Standard # 13)   

• Twenty-eight states (56%) have regulations concerning HVAC, HEPA, carpeting, 
pesticide use (Policy Standard # 14) 
 

Note that regulatory agencies such as Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
may regulate individual components of IAQ.  Among the Honor Roll states, two (33%) have 
mandatory IAQ policies (Connecticut and New Jersey).  Other states with mandatory IAQ 
policies include Kentucky, Maine, Minnesota, New York, North Carolina and West Virginia.   
 
School districts and schools themselves may initiate sound environmental policies and practices 
without a requirement from their states.  In an analysis of the 2006 SHPPS data collected by the 
CDC, 75% of all school districts nationally required inspections of the HVAC system, and 96% 
of schools reported that they conduct inspections of the HVAC system27

• Twenty-four states (48%) meet this standard (Policy Standard # 15) 

.  Five Honor Roll 
States (83%) mandate such inspections.  This number is considerably higher than the 56% of 
states that have a similar mandate.   
 
Sometimes states require schools to follow environmental policies that are not IAQ policies per 
se, but nonetheless do regulate some components of IAQ such as the HVAC system, use of 
HEPA filters, carpeting and pesticides.  All of the Honor Roll States regulate specific 
components of IAQ.   
 
Outdoor Air Quality 
 
Because pesticides can be an asthma trigger, one core standard (# 15) requires schools to notify 
parents of upcoming pesticide applications: 
 

15. State requires schools to notify parents of upcoming pesticide applications. 
 
About half of states comply:   
 

 

                                                 
27 Jones SE, Axelrad R, Wattigney WA.  Healthy and safe school environment, Part II, physical school environment:  results from the School Health 

Policies and Programs Study 2006.  Journal of School Health, 2007; 77(8):544-56. 
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Some regulations specify that parents request advance written notice and some require posting 
of signs to notify the neighborhood.  All Honor Roll states (100%) require that schools notify 
parents about scheduled pesticide applications.     
 
States are also trending toward limiting idling by school buses.  Georgia added this requirement 
for 2009, joining 13 other states.   
 
Tobacco Policies 
 
School tobacco policies are an important component of a healthy school environment, 
particularly smoking policies since secondhand smoke can be an asthma trigger.  Three core 
policy standards involve tobacco prevention policies:  
 

16. All smoking is prohibited in school buildings and on school grounds. 
17. All smoking is prohibited on school buses and at school-related functions. 
18. Tobacco use prevention is required in health education curriculum. 

 
Clearly, states are making tobacco prevention on school campuses a high priority:  
 

• Forty states (80%) have policies forbidding smoking by anyone in any school building or 
on school grounds (Policy Standard # 16) 

• Twenty-seven states (54%) have policies forbidding smoking at school-sponsored 
events and on school buses (Policy Standard # 17) 

• Thirty-six states (72%) require that schools teach tobacco use prevention as part of their 
health education curriculum (Policy Standard # 18) 

 
All of the Honor Roll states prohibit smoking for all people in all school-related sites.   
 
A closer look at these data, based on the CDC’s 2006 SHPPS28

 

 as well as updates from 
individual state web sites and the school policy database of the National Association of School 
Boards of Education, reveals that smoking is prohibited in schools for students in all but four 
states (92%).   
 
States are somewhat more flexible with regard to faculty, staff and visitors and may provide 
designated smoking areas for adults.  Twenty-seven states (54%) prohibit tobacco use 
completely (by all persons in school buildings, on school grounds, at school-sponsored 
functions and on school buses).  Some states specifically list sports stadiums and other open 
areas in their prohibitions as well.  Maryland law does not specify sites other than the school 
building and grounds, although it does refer to a tobacco-free environment.    
 

 

                                                 
28 The School Health Policies and Programs Study (SHPPS) 2006, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 

http://www.cdc.gov/HealthyYouth/shpps/index.htm (accessed 7/21/08) 
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2009 HONOR ROLL STATES:  Summary 
The following are highlights of the six Honor Roll States for this year, in alphabetical order:  
Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Rhode Island, Vermont and Washington.  Please 
also see Chart 1:  2009 State Honor Roll – Performance on Core Policy Standards, and 
Appendix:  Detailed Profiles of 2009 Honor Roll States. 
 
These states all employ strong policies across the core policy standards, including: 
 

• Requiring school specific policies and programs for managing students with asthma 
• Requiring school specific policies and programs for managing students with life-

threatening allergies 
• Requiring written emergency protocols for asthma and anaphylaxis  
• Identifying and tracking of students with asthma and/or life-threatening allergies 
• Educating faculty and staff about asthma and food allergies 
• Requiring indoor air quality policies 
• Requiring integrated pest management (IPM) programs 

 
All of these states ban smoking on school premises by students, teachers and others.  In 
addition, these states ban smoking at school sponsored activities and include tobacco 
prevention in their health education curricula.   
 
Connecticut  
 
Connecticut has comprehensive legislation promoting asthma management and allergy 
guidelines in schools.  It is one of the few states recommending a school nurse-to-student ratio 
consistent with the core standard of 1:750 or better.  The state also features strong guidelines 
on school environment and requires that local boards annually report school conditions to the 
state commissioner of education.  Air quality measures include bus idling restrictions, school 
smoking ban and smoking cessation services.  Connecticut meets 17 of 18 core policy 
standards and ten of 15 extra credit indicators.  (For detailed profile, see Appendix.)  
 
Massachusetts 
 
Massachusetts has a comprehensive program to support school students with asthma and 
allergies.  It requires that schools record the date and time of epinephrine administration, as well 
as conduct a review of any incidents requiring the administration of epinephrine to determine the 
adequacy of the response.  Massachusetts requires and funds extensive staff development for 
school nurses in asthma and allergy management related activities, including tobacco use, 
teaching self-management, accessing benefits for students with disabilities, and case 
management for students with chronic conditions.  State laws ban pesticide application at 
schools when students are present and require parental notification in advance of pesticide 
applications.  State funds promote indoor air quality programs.  Massachusetts meets 16 of 18 
core policy standards and ten of 15 extra credit indicators.  (For detailed profile, see Appendix.) 
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New Jersey 
 
New Jersey has enacted comprehensive asthma and allergy programs for its schools using 
mandates, voluntary and funded programs.  The state requires school districts to develop 
policies according to state guidelines covering asthma and allergy management and reporting in 
schools, permitting self-medication and other supportive activities.  Each school district must 
appoint one school physician and certified school nurse to carry out services in schools.  The 
state requires comprehensive maintenance plans for school facilities, and advance notice of 
pesticide applications.  New Jersey meets 17 of 18 core policy standards and 12 of 15 extra 
credit indicators.  (For detailed profile, see Appendix.) 
 
Rhode Island 
 
Rhode Island requires that all public and private schools have a comprehensive school health 
program approved by the state, and entitles any student with a chronic disease to have an 
individual health care plan and emergency care plan.  A 2007 law mandates procedures schools 
must follow if a student is identified with a peanut or tree nut allergy.  A certified nurse-teacher is 
assigned to every public school (many cover multiple schools) and each district employs a 
school physician.  Rhode Island is one of the few states that provide smoking cessation 
programs for all school personnel.  The state promotes air quality with school bus anti-idling 
prohibitions and diesel engine retrofitting.  Rhode Island meets 16 of 18 core policy standards 
and 10 of 15 extra credit indicators.  (For detailed profile, see Appendix.) 
 
Vermont 
 
Vermont’s school health services infrastructure is truly a model for other states.  Only Vermont 
mandates school nurse staffing at the nationally recommended level of one nurse to 750 
students or better.  Each school must have fulltime coverage by either a school nurse or a 
trained associate, and each school must have a consulting physician.  The state is also 
addressing air quality by directing the development of a model environmental health plan and 
policy:  the “Envision—Promoting Healthy School Environments” program.  While not 
mandatory, the program features state grants to encourage participation.  Vermont meets 17 of 
18 core policy standards and nine of 15 extra credit indicators.  (For detailed profile, see 
Appendix.) 
 
Washington 
 
Washington requires the health and public instruction departments to develop uniform policies 
for asthma management in schools.  It requires schools to provide case management, care 
coordination and mental health counseling, if needed, for students with chronic conditions.  The 
state has been very proactive with its programs to retrofit school buses.  Washington was one of 
less than a dozen states to place hybrid-powered school buses into service in 2006.  
Washington meets 15 of 18 core policy standards and nine of 15 extra credit indicators.  (For 
detailed profile, see Appendix.) 
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2009 HONORABLE MENTION STATES 
Several states, although not included among the Honor Roll States, are worthy of recognition 
because they instituted new mandatory policies in 2008 – 2009 to prevent and/or manage 
asthma and anaphylaxis in their schools systems.  Please also see Chart 2:  All 50 States – 
Performance on Core Policy Standards, and Chart 3:  All 50 States – Performance on Extra 
Credit Indicators. 
 
Note:  We chose to use new criteria to select states for honorable mention in 2009 than we used 
in the inaugural year for this report.  In 2008, we highlighted states with exemplary programs, or 
those that met a relatively high number of policy standards and extra credit indicators.  In this 
second year, we looked for progress from 2008.  Thus, states we included on our first 
Honorable Mention list in 2008 are in no way demoted simply because they do not appear 
among Honorable Mention states for 2009.   
 
Colorado 
 
Colorado has heightened awareness of allergies in schools.  The state now requires that the 
state Board of Education, in consultation with the Public Health and Environment Department, 
make rules to manage the risks posed by food allergies and anaphylaxis in public schools.  In 
addition, state school districts and the state charter schools must develop policies that satisfy 
these rules.  Colorado also requires schools to identify students with food allergies and keep 
records of student allergies and medications.  Colorado now meets 13 of the core policy 
standards and five of the 15 extra credit indicators. 
 
Georgia 
 
Georgia has recognized the problem of allergies in schools and now allows elementary and 
secondary school students to possess and self-administer epinephrine while in school, at a 
school sponsored activity, while under the supervision of school personnel or while in before-
school or after-school care on school operated property.  The state has also limited 
unnecessary school bus idling.  By this action, Georgia doubled the number of core policy 
standards that it meets (from two to four) and now meets six of 15 extra credit indicators. 
 
Iowa 
 
Iowa passed landmark legislation, the Smokefree Air Act, which took effect on July 1, 2008.  
The Act prohibits smoking in and around school buildings, including but not limited to, school 
vehicles and private buildings on school property.  The law provides that schools post “no 
smoking” signs and provides penalties for individuals who violate the law.  Iowa meets 12 of the 
core policy standards and five of the 15 extra credit indicators. 
 
Kansas 
 
Kansas now allows any individual to administer epinephrine at school, on school property or at a 
school-sponsored event if the individual exhibits the signs and symbols of anaphylactic reaction 
or shock.  A school may keep epinephrine kits on the premises if it has a consulting pharmacist 
to act in a supervisory capacity, responsible for developing procedures, proper control and 
accountability for the kit.   
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The state shields any person administering epinephrine to a student or member of school staff 
at school, on school property or at a school event from liability for injuries if the person acts in 
good faith or gratuitously, and if the actions are reasonably prudent.  Kansas meets six of the 
core policy standards and three of the 15 extra credit indicators. 
 
West Virginia 
 
West Virginia has a strong array of policies across all domains.  In 2008, the state instituted an 
Asthma Action Plan as part of its Take Action! for addressing diabetes and asthma in public 
schools.  Take Action! includes having an asthma action plan for each student with asthma.  
West Virginia meets 14 of the 18 core policy standards and 13 of the 15 extra credit indicators. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS 
Those states that are addressing asthma and allergies are doing a thorough job.  In fact, about 
two-thirds (62%) of states satisfied at least half of the core policy standards, and about a third 
(34%) satisfied at least half of the extra credit indicators.   
 
The core policy standards can serve as a starting point for advocates and policy makers who 
are committed to improving asthma and allergy health for school students in their states.  
Advocates need look no further than improving their policies for health services capacity 
because so few states meet this core policy standard of providing nurse-to-student ratio of 1:750 
or better.  School nurses play a vital role because they are usually the professionals tasked with 
preparing or coordinating Individual Health Care Plans and Emergency Treatment Plans, but 
these policies become empty promises without the addition of resources.     
 
Schools and states are understandably limited in the school nursing services they can 
reasonably deliver.  Rural states face practical challenges covering great distance with scarce 
nurse staff, while population density creates compelling practical challenges in funding and 
attracting numbers of nurses sufficient to cover schools in urban settings.  The school nursing 
shortage, coupled with widespread lack of emergency protocols in schools, means schools 
could be unprepared to respond to asthma or anaphylaxis emergencies.    
 
Simply adding duties to an already overburdened department is counterproductive.  States 
should allocate funding to provide schools with an adequate number of nurses or health aides to 
assist them.  In addition, states can pursue ways to supplement nurses appropriately with 
certified trained staff and dedicated volunteers who can assist with clerical and administrative 
duties. 
 
As leading states succeed with core policy standards for schools, they should move to adopt the 
“extra credit” policies identified by this report that already exist in some other states.  AAFA 
cautions that embracing these extra credit policies may involve a more substantial commitment 
of resources than many core policies.  Tobacco policies are an example.  States are succeeding 
in implementing smoke-free campuses.  As states move progressively to provide related 
programs, like smoking cessation, they face adding costs to schools.  Advocates will have to 
pursue funding aggressively to support these services.   
 
Researchers should consider exploring state and geographic variation in approving these 
policies.  If advocates understand that certain states tend to avoid state-level mandates to 
school districts, then advocates can focus their activities at school district-levels rather than 
state legislatures or state departments of education and health.   

 
Take Action 
 
AAFA’s public policy and advocacy program focuses on priorities that are important for people 
who are living with asthma and allergies.  We endorse access to affordable, quality health care 
for the treatment and management of asthma and allergies in patients.  We support increased 
funding for basic, clinical, preventative, and health services research.  We promote prevention, 
screening, environmental and lifestyle interventions that reduce the incidence and adverse 
effects of asthma and allergies.  If you are interested in promoting student health in your state, 
AAFA can help. 
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• Log on to www.StateHonorRoll.com and use the State Honor Roll report as a template to 
assess your state’s school policies   

• Identify others who are interested in school policies by joining one of AAFA’s support 
groups (http://aafa.org/esg_search.cfm) or starting a new one   

• Speak to school officials and use our tools to improve asthma and allergies in our school 
systems  

• Connect with an AAFA Regional Chapter in your area.  AAFA Chapters provide a variety 
of services and advocacy at the state, regional and/or local level, driven by the energy of 
dedicated volunteers 

 
Visit the Education section at www.aafa.org to find these educational programs for school-aged 
children and school staff, including: 
 

• AAFA’s Children, Parent and Caregiver Programs 
http://aafa.org/display.cfm?id=4&sub=79&cont=351) 

 
o Asthma Basics for Children (ABC),  
o Asthma & Allergy Essentials for Child Care Providers 
o Asthma Care Training (ACT) programs  
 

• For Teens 
 

o Power Breathing™ – asthma education program for adolescents 
(http://aafa.org/display.cfm?id=4&sub=79&cont=352).   

o To view an abstract of the study showing Power Breathing to be a cost-effective 
education program for adolescents, see 
http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/content~content=a913557366~db=all~jumpty
pe=rss 

 
Support AAFA by becoming an advocate in your local community or through a gift.  You can 
memorialize a person who is no longer with us, celebrate a birthday, anniversary or other 
milestone to honor a friend or family member who is living with asthma or allergies, or support 
new research initiatives for asthma and allergies. 

 
 
 
 

8201 Corporate Drive, Suite 1000 
Landover, MD 20785 USA 
1-800-7-ASTHMA 
info@aafa.org  
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TABLE 3:  Links to State Asthma and Allergy School Policies 

State 
Education 
Agency 

Website List 

 

http://wdcrobcolp01.ed.gov/Programs/EROD/org_list.cfm?category_ID=SEA 

 

Alabama 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.alsde.edu/html/home.asp 

State Legislature Website: http://alisondb.legislature.state.al.us/acas/ACASLogin.asp 

Alaska 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.eed.state.ak.us/ 

State Legislature Websites: 

Senate: http://senate.legis.state.ak.us/ 

House: http://house.legis.state.ak.us/ 

Food Allergies ~ School Nutrition Magazine, March 2008 issue: 
http://www.eed.state.ak.us/tls/cns/pdf/bulletin_03_2008.pdf 

Arizona 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ade.az.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.azleg.gov/ 

Arizona Resource Guide for Children with Life Threatening Allergies 
http://www.azed.gov/health-safety/health-
nursing/GM/AZResourceGuidLifeThreateningFoodAllergies.pdf 

Arkansas 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://arkansased.org/ 

State Legislature Website: 
http://www.arkleg.state.ar.us/SearchCenter/Pages/historicalbil.aspx 

California 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.cde.ca.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/ 

Information on indoor air quality: 
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/fa/sf/iaq.asp 

Colorado 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.cde.state.co.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.leg.state.co.us/ 

Colorado Schoolchildren’s Asthma and Anaphylaxis Health Management Act 
Guidelines (C.R.S. 05-156) 
http://www.cde.state.co.us/cdesped/download/pdf/ColoradoSchoolChildren.pdf 

http://www.statehonorroll.com/�
http://wdcrobcolp01.ed.gov/Programs/EROD/org_list.cfm?category_ID=SEA�
http://www.alsde.edu/html/home.asp�
http://alisondb.legislature.state.al.us/acas/ACASLogin.asp�
http://www.eed.state.ak.us/�
http://senate.legis.state.ak.us/�
http://house.legis.state.ak.us/�
http://www.eed.state.ak.us/tls/cns/pdf/bulletin_03_2008.pdf�
http://www.ade.az.gov/�
http://www.azleg.gov/�
http://www.azed.gov/health-safety/health-nursing/GM/AZResourceGuidLifeThreateningFoodAllergies.pdf�
http://www.azed.gov/health-safety/health-nursing/GM/AZResourceGuidLifeThreateningFoodAllergies.pdf�
http://arkansased.org/�
http://www.arkleg.state.ar.us/SearchCenter/Pages/historicalbil.aspx�
http://www.cde.ca.gov/�
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/�
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/fa/sf/iaq.asp�
http://www.cde.state.co.us/�
http://www.leg.state.co.us/�
http://www.cde.state.co.us/cdesped/download/pdf/ColoradoSchoolChildren.pdf�


 

          © Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America® (AAFA)        www.StateHonorRoll.com          37 

Connecticut 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.sde.ct.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.cga.ct.gov/ 

Policies on updating health records: 
http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/LIB/sde/pdf/deps/Student/Health/Order_Request09.pdf 
http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/lib/sde/pdf/circ/circ07-08/C10.pdf 

Connecticut State Department of Education’s Nutrition-Related Resources – contains 
information on food allergies: 
http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/lib/sde/PDF/DEPS/Nutrition/nutrition_resources.pdf 
 
Accommodating Special Dietary Needs: Guidance for School Nutrition Programs 
(revised April 2009):  
http://www.sde.ct.gov/sde/lib/sde/PDF/DEPS/Student/NutritionEd/AccommodatingSpec
ialDiets.pdf 

Delaware 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.doe.state.de.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://legis.delaware.gov/ 

Florida 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.fldoe.org/ 

State Legislature Website: 

Senate: 
http://www.flsenate.gov/Welcome/index.cfm?CFID=142286674&CFTOKEN=33208643 

House: http://www.myfloridahouse.gov/ 

Georgia 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://public.doe.k12.ga.us/index.aspx 
 
State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.ga.us/ 
 
Self-carry policies: 
http://www.legis.ga.gov/legis/2009_10/fulltext/sb8.htm 
 
Bus idling limits: 
http://public.doe.k12.ga.us/DMGetDocument.aspx/Idling%20Implementation%20II.pdf?
p=6CC6799F8C1371F60BB9784EB282B574D5B8D92733EECD4F3BB47F93C3897D
C4&Type=D 

Hawaii 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://doe.k12.hi.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/site1/docs/docs.asp 

Peanut free school district in Hawaii: 
http://www.k12.hi.us/~ainahain/peanut/peanut.html 

Idaho 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.sde.idaho.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: 
http://www.legislature.idaho.gov/legislation/2009/legIndex.htm 

Illinois 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.isbe.net/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ 

Indiana 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.doe.in.gov 

State Legislature Website: http://www.in.gov/apps/lsa/session/billwatch/billinfo 

Iowa State Education Agency Website: http://www.iowa.gov/educate 
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 State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.ia.us/Legislation.html 

Fact Sheet on Iowa Smokefree Air Act and Implications for Public School: 
http://www.iowa.gov/educate/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=1462:sm
okefree-act-implications-for-schools&catid=411:legal-lessons 
 
http://www.iowasmokefreeair.gov/ 
 
Fact Sheet on Iowa Smoke Free Air Act and Implications for Public Schools: 
http://www.iowa.gov/educate/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=1462:sm
okefree-act-implications-for-schools&catid=411:legal-lessons 
 
http://www.iowasmokefreeair.gov/ 

Kansas 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ksde.org/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.kslegislature.org/legsrv-legisportal/bills.do 

Epinephrine practices in schools: 
http://www.kslegislature.org/bills/2010/2008.pdf 

Kentucky 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.education.ky.gov 

State Legislature Website: http://www.lrc.ky.gov/legislation.htm 

Louisiana 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.louisianaschools.net 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.la.us/ 

Maine 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.maine.gov/portal/education/ 

State Legislature Website: 
http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/bills/default_ps.asp?PID=1456&snum=124 

Maryland 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.marylandpublicschools.org/MSDE 

State Legislature Website: http://mlis.state.md.us/mgaweb/subjects.aspx 

Massachu-
setts 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.doe.mass.edu/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.mass.gov/legis/ 

Managing Life Threatening Food Allergies in Schools: 
http://www.doe.mass.edu/cnp/allergy.pdf#search=%22asthma%22 (p.64) 

Michigan 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.michigan.gov/mde/ 

State Legislature Website: 
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(fbyerv451yfcl2qzopergamh))/mileg.aspx?page=bills 

Minnesota 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://education.state.mn.us/mde/index.html 

State Legislature Website: http://www.leg.state.mn.us/leg/legis.asp 

Mississippi 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.mde.k12.ms.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://billstatus.ls.state.ms.us/sessions.htm 

Information on the school nurse program: 
http://www.mde.k12.ms.us/HealthySchools/SchoolNurse.html 

Missouri 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://dese.mo.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.house.mo.gov/billcentral.aspx 

Missouri Green Cleaning Guidelines and Specifications for Schools/January 15, 2009: 
http://dese.mo.gov/divadm/govern/documents/GreenClean_2009.pdf 
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Montana State Education Agency Website: http://www.opi.mt.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://leg.mt.gov/css/default.asp 

School Administrators’ Asthma Survey: 
http://www.dphhs.mt.gov/PHSD/asthma/documents/SchoolAdministratorsSurvey.pdf 
(May 2008) 

Creating Asthma Friendly Schools in Montana:  A Resource Guide: 
http://www.dphhs.mt.gov/PHSD/asthma/documents/CreatingasthmafriendlyschoolsinM
ontana.pdf 

Nebraska 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.nde.state.ne.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.nebraskalegislature.gov/bills/ 

Nevada 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.doe.nv.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.leg.state.nv.us/search.cfm 

New 
Hampshire 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ed.state.nh.us 

State Legislature Website: http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/index/ 

Frequently Asked Questions about Delegation of Nursing Care in Schools – asks about 
delegating administration of epinephrine to non-nursing professionals when student 
does and does not have a prescription:  
http://www.ed.state.nh.us/education/doe/organization/instruction/HealthHIVAIDS/nursin
gcaredelegation.htm  

New Jersey 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.state.nj.us/education/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.njleg.state.nj.us/bills/bills0001.asp 

Guidelines for Management of Life-Threatening Food Allergies in Schools: 
http://www.state.nj.us/education/students/safety/health/allergies.pdf (September 2008) 

Training Protocols for the Emergency Administration of Epinephrine: 
http://www.state.nj.us/education/students/safety/health/epi.pdf 
 
Asthma Action Plan – links to the Pediatric/Adult Asthma Coalition of New Jersey and 
the following resource: Asthma Friendly Schools: http://www.pacnj.org/schools.html 

Frequently Asked Questions on student Services: Administration of Medications in 
Schools: 
http://www.state.nj.us/education/genfo/overview/faq_ss.htm#l1 

New Mexico 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ped.state.nm.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://legis.state.nm.us/lcs/BillFinder.aspx 
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New York 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.nysed.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://assembly.state.ny.us/leg/ 

Caring for Students with Life-Threatening Allergies: 
www.emsc.nysed.gov/sss/documents/AnaphylaxisFinal62508.doc 
 
Practice Alerts & Guidelines for Nurses – lists anaphylaxis administration requirements 
and protocols: 
http://www.op.nysed.gov/immunguide.htm 

North 
Carolina 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ncpublicschools.org/ 
 
State Legislature Website: http://www.ncga.state.nc.us/Legislation/Legislation.html 

North Dakota 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.dpi.state.nd.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.nd.gov/assembly/61-2009/subject-
index/major-topic.html 

Fact Sheet on Asthma: http://www.dpi.state.nd.us/health/CSH/asthma.pdf 

Ohio 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ode.state.oh.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legislature.state.oh.us/ 

Oklahoma 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://sde.state.ok.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.lsb.state.ok.us/ 

Oregon 

 

State Education Agency Website: 

State Legislature Website: 

http://www.ode.state.or.us/mailto:gene.evans@state.or.us 

http://www.leg.state.or.us/bills_laws/ 

Oregon Comprehensive Asthma Website: http://www.freebreather.com/ 

Pennsylvania 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.pde.state.pa.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/home/session.cfm 

Rhode Island 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.ride.ri.gov/ 

http://www.rilin.state.ri.us/Genmenu/ 

South 
Carolina 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://ed.sc.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.scstatehouse.gov/cgi-bin/query.exe 

“Blazin’ the Way” grants: 
http://ed.sc.gov/news/more.cfm?articleID=1113 

South 
Dakota 

State Education Agency Website: http://doe.sd.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://legis.state.sd.us/sessions/2009/TextSearch.aspx 
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Tennessee 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.state.tn.us/education/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legislature.state.tn.us/ 

Assistance in self-administration of medications - Administration of glucagons and anti-
seizure medications by volunteers - Possession and self-administration of asthma-
reliever inhalers - Diabetes care: 
http://tennessee.gov/tccy/tnchild/49/49-5-415.htm 
http://tennessee.gov/sos/acts/104/pub/pc0933.pdf 
 
Tennessee Asthma Management Plan (Dept of Health):   
http://health.state.tn.us/MCH/asthma.htm 
 
The STAT Plan to Reduce Asthma in Tennessee, 2009 (Dept of Health): 
http://health.state.tn.us/Downloads/asthmaplan09.pdf 

Texas 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.tea.state.tx.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.tx.us/billlookup/billnumber.aspx 

Utah 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.schools.utah.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://le.utah.gov/Documents/bills.htm 

Vermont 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.education.vermont.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://www.leg.state.vt.us/database/database2.cfm 

Managing Life-Threatening Allergic Conditions in Schools: 
http://education.vermont.gov/new/pdfdoc/pgm_health_ed/publications_resources/food_
allergies_manual_0608.pdf 

The “Envision—Promoting Healthy School Environments” program 
http://www.healthvermont.gov/enviro/envision.aspx  

Virginia 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.doe.virginia.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: http://leg1.state.va.us/cgi-bin/legp504.exe?091+men+SRB 

Washington 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://www.k12.wa.us/ 

State Legislature Website: http://apps.leg.wa.gov/billinfo/ 

Guidelines for the Care of Students with Anaphylaxis: 
http://www.k12.wa.us/HealthServices/Publications/09-0009.aspx?printable=true  

Health Services/Resources for Students with Asthma/Allergies plus information on 
administration of medication in schools (March 2009): 
http://www.k12.wa.us/HealthServices/resources.aspx 

West Virginia 

 

State Education Agency Website: http 

State Legislature Website: http://www.legis.state.wv.us/Bill_Status/bill_status.cfm 

Is the Asthma Plan Working?: 
http://wvde.state.wv.us/takeaction/pdf/istheaapworking.pdf 

Asthma Action Plan: http://wvde.state.wv.us/takeaction/pdf/aap.pdf 

 

Wisconsin 

 

State Education Agency Website: http://dpi.wi.gov/ 

State Legislature Website: 

http://nxt.legis.state.wi.us/nxt/gateway.dll?f=templates&fn=default.htm&d=enrolled09&j
d=top 
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Guidelines for Managing Life-Threatening Food Allergies in Schools: 
http://dpi.wi.gov/fns/doc/fd_allgs.doc 

Wyoming State Education Agency Website: http://www.k12.wy.us 

State Legislature Website: http://legisweb.state.wy.us/ 
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APPENDIX:  Detailed Profiles of 2009 Honor Roll States 
AAFA selected states for its 2009 State Honor Roll based on their performance on the list of 
core policy standards.  AAFA assessed each state’s laws to determine if it has adopted laws or 
policies that have state-wide applicability and meet each of 18 AAFA policy standards.  The six 
states named to the Honor Roll met at least 15 of the 18 core policy standards and exhibited 
strong performance consistently across the policy categories and domains.  
 
• Connecticut  
• Massachusetts  
• New Jersey  
• Rhode Island  
• Vermont  
• Washington  

 
CONNECTICUT  

 
Connecticut proactively addresses asthma and allergies in its schools using a combination of 
legal requirements and voluntary programs.  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
Public Health Code 10-212a-2 (1995) governs the administration of medications.  It does not 
require the administration of medications in schools, but gives authority to local boards to 
determine whether medications may be administered and by whom, including licensed 
personnel, teachers, principals, and students themselves.  The law requires schools that 
administer medication to maintain a record for each student, including the name of the student, 
the medication, the authorized prescriber, the dosage of medication, the route and frequency of 
administration, the date the medication was ordered, quantity received, and the date the 
medication is to be reordered.  
 
Each board that allows the administration of medications in its schools must establish policies 
and procedures to be followed in the event of a medication emergency and ensure that schools 
in its jurisdiction have ready access to such procedures and policies, as well as the local poison 
information center telephone number, the individuals or facilities to be contacted in an 
emergency, and the name of the person responsible for decision making in the absence of the 
school nurse.  
 
Section 3 of the same Public Health Code describes the requirements for training school 
personnel who may administer medications, and Section 4 spells out specifications regarding 
self-medication by students.  Schools that permit the administration of medications must keep 
extensive documentation according to Section 6 of the Code. Section 7 covers supervision, 
including periodic review and updating of documentation. In Connecticut, all levels of 
emergency medical technicians are allowed to carry and trained to use epinephrine auto-
injectors. 
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Identification and Reporting 
Connecticut House Bill 7505 directs local boards of education to require that each child have a 
health assessment that includes an asthma diagnosis before enrollment in public school and at 
grades 6/7 and 10/11.  It also requires each local school board to (a) report annually the number 
of students diagnosed with asthma, including demographics on each child, and (b) establish a 
program for the early identification and treatment of pediatric asthma.  Public Act 05-104 
specifies that life-threatening allergies must also be diagnosed and recorded.  
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
Connecticut Public Act No. 05-104 (2005)

• Education and training for school personnel on managing students with anaphylaxis and 
administering medication with a cartridge injector  

 requires the Department of Education to develop 
guidelines for the management of students with life-threatening food allergies and make them 
available to each local and regional board of education by January 2006, then requires all 
schools/districts to develop and implement their own plans based on these guidelines by July 
2006.  The guidelines include:  
 

• Procedures for responding to emergency situations  
• A process for developing individualized health care plans and food allergy action plans  
• Protocols to prevent exposure to food allergens  

 
Chapter 170 Sec. 10-220f (1998) allows local and regional boards of education to establish 
school district safety committees to review the adequacy of emergency response procedures at 
each school.  The State Board of Education’s Position Statement on Student Support Services 
(2001) recommends that school districts establish school based and/or district-wide support 
services teams to assess school health needs and coordinate the delivery of services including 
crisis response.  
 
Health Services Capacity  
Public Act 04-181(a) specifies that each local or regional board of education shall appoint one or 
more school nurses or nurse practitioners.  Further, each school has a physician medical 
advisor.  The state recommends, but does not require, a nurse-to-student ratio of 1:750.  
According to recent CDC surveys, about two-thirds of Connecticut public schools have a full-
time nurse and 90% of Connecticut school districts have health teams.  
 
Connecticut supports 50 school-based health centers, a ratio of about one for every 22 public 
schools.  These facilities provide a full range of outpatient physical and mental health services 
to students enrolled in Connecticut public schools.  
 
Connecticut schools are required to provide case management for students with asthma, as well 
as referrals to local health services as needed.  If asthma or anaphylaxis episodes occur, the 
school nurse is required to file a written report with the health authorities.  
 
Information that is more detailed is provided in the Connecticut Board of Education’s position 
paper on Student Support Services.  
Awareness  
 
Connecticut Public Act No. 05-104 (2005) requires training for faculty, school staff and 
foodservice personnel in procedures for dealing with allergic reactions to foods.  Connecticut 
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also requires foodservice personnel to receive training in serving students with special dietary 
needs.  
 
A Manual for Managing Asthma in Connecticut Schools, following the model of the Coordinated 
School Health Program, was developed by the Connecticut Department of Public Health and 
Coordinated School Health Partnership and was distributed as a guide to all school staff 
involved in student health and health services.  The manual provides detailed guidance about 
the roles and responsibilities of school administrators, teachers, nurses, coaches and custodial 
staff; students and families; and health care providers. The school nurse is designated to 
coordinate student care with the student’s parents or guardians and health care provider.  The 
Connecticut Board of Education has published a position paper on School-Family-Community 
Partnerships.  
 
The school nurse is responsible for coordinating activities for staff awareness and education 
regarding students with asthma, including sharing Individual Health Care Plans as appropriate 
and coordinating with health and science teachers to include asthma awareness in the school 
health curriculum.  
 
Staff development requirements include continuing education training or funding for school 
nurses in administration of medications; case management for students with chronic health 
conditions; identifying and tracking students with chronic health conditions; accessing benefits 
for students with disabilities; teaching self-management to students with chronic health 
conditions; and tobacco use cessation.  Asthma awareness training covering the schools’ 
asthma program, policy and procedures is required for all school staff.  Tobacco use prevention 
training is required for health education teachers.  
 

Indoor Air Quality  

School Environment  
 

Public Act No. 03-220 (2003) requires school boards to adopt and implement an indoor air 
quality program (IAQ) that provides for ongoing maintenance and facility reviews.  Schools must 
be inspected every five years, and the boards must report conditions annually to the 
commissioner of education.  Guidelines are provided in the Connecticut Board of Education’s 
Position Paper on Creating a Healthy School Environment.  Funding of IAQ projects has been 
approved by the state.  
 
A consortium of state agencies and organizations, spearheaded by the Connecticut 
Departments of Public Health, Education, Environmental Protection, and Labor, has been 
formed to help schools implement the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) Tools for 
Schools program.  As of 2007, a majority of Connecticut schools is using this program, and in 
2005, the Hartford Public Schools won an Award for Excellence from the EPA.  
 
Public Act 07-168 (2007) prohibits the application of pesticides on the grounds of any public or 
private school with students in grade eight or lower.  The law also restricts the application of 
pesticides in or at a school to certified applicators described in section 22a-54 (2003), except in 
cases where pesticide is needed to eliminate an immediate threat to human health.  
 
Statutes Chapter 170, Section 10-231c (2000) and Chapter 170, Section 10-231d (2000) limit 
the application of pesticides during school hours and require advance notice to parents and 
staff.  
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Outdoor Air Quality  
The Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) has made the reduction of 
diesel emissions in school buses a priority, based on health risks posed to children.  The 
Connecticut General Assembly enacted Public Act No. 07-4 Sections 16-19

• Forty school buses in Norwich are being retrofitted using funds from an enforcement 
action by the Connecticut DEP  

 to reduce the 
exposure of children to diesel exhaust from school buses.  The law created a school bus 
emission reduction account to reimburse school districts for the purchase, installation, and 
warranty of emission control technology (ECT) and closed crankcase ventilation systems 
(CCVs).  
 
Connecticut received demonstration grants from the EPA’s Clean School Bus program in 2003, 
2004 and 2005 for retrofitting school buses in Fairfield, Old Lyme, Stamford, Bridgeport, 
Hartford, Newington, New Haven and Norwich.  
 
Snapshots of Clean School Bus activities include:  
 

• New Haven received a grant from the US EPA for the purchase of ultra-low sulfur diesel 
fuel (ULSD) for all of the city’s 251 school buses; the availability of ULSD will position the 
city to retrofit those buses with advanced pollution controls in the future  

• The Stamford division of the Connecticut Transit Authority is fueling its entire fleet of 48 
buses with ULSD and 31 of the buses are fitted with advanced pollution controls  

 
For more information on the National Clean Diesel Campaign, see 
www.epa.gov/otaq/diesel/grantfundarchive.htm#2006.  
 
Connecticut also has anti-idling laws that are applicable to school buses.  The Regulations of 
Connecticut State Agencies Title 22a, §174-18(b) (3) limits idling of all motor vehicles to three 
minutes.  The Connecticut School Transportation Association partnered with the Connecticut 
DEP to develop a specific policy for school bus operators and provided outreach materials to 
disseminate the information to all fleets in the state.  The policy instructs drivers to shut off their 
buses immediately upon reaching their destinations and not to idle while awaiting passengers, 
with certain exceptions due to weather or equipment factors.  
 
Tobacco Policies  
Statute Chapter 368, Section 19a-342 (2004) prohibits smoking in public places, including 
school buildings while school is in session or student activities are being conducted.  The law 
also requires that signs stating that smoking is prohibited by state law must be posted in each 
building.  An earlier statute, Chapter 943, Section 53-198 (1959), prohibits smoking on school 
buses.  
 
Tobacco use prevention is required in the health curriculum for students as well as in training for 
teachers.  The state has provided funding or staff development to schools and districts on how 
to implement a tobacco use prevention program.  Smoking cessation services are provided for 
students, and continuing education training in tobacco use cessation is provided to school 
nurses.  
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MASSACHUSETTS  
 
Massachusetts manages asthma and allergies in its school system using a combination of legal 
requirements and voluntary programs implemented through its Comprehensive, Enhanced and 
Essential School Health Programs.  Although certain programs are voluntary, schools are being 
funded from various sources to upgrade their health services and the programs appear to be 
widely adopted.  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
Massachusetts General Law 71.54B (2002) requires the state department of public health to 
establish regulations governing the administration of medications in school settings.  105 CMR 
210.003

• Designation of a supervising school nurse  

 (1994) mandates local boards of education, in consultation with their local boards of 
health, to adopt policies and procedures governing the administration of prescription 
medications.  These policies should include:  
 

• Response to a medication emergency  
• Dissemination of information to parents and guardians  
• Procedures for the resolution of questions between parents and the school  

 
The policy also allows schools to administer epinephrine by auto-injector in life-threatening 
situations during the school day.  
 
105 CMR 210.006 (1994) allows the self-administration of medication by students according to 
terms of an agreement among the student, school nurse, and parent or guardian and 
authorization from the student’s health care provider.  Massachusetts General Law 71.54B adds 
another safeguard by stating that school districts may not prohibit students with asthma or other 
respiratory diseases from possessing and self-administering prescription inhalers.  
 
All levels of Emergency Medical Technicians in Massachusetts are allowed to carry and trained 
to use epinephrine auto-injectors.  
 
Identification and Reporting  
All students in Massachusetts must have a health record maintained by the school nurse, 
covering basic health information such as screening and examination results, services and 
treatments.  For students with special health needs, this record includes information about 
prescribed medications, their Individual Health Care Plans (IHCP), emergency measures and 
parental authorizations.  This legal record transfers with the student and is maintained for seven 
years after the student graduates or leaves the school.  
 
Management of students with asthma and allergy is covered in Chapter 7, “Students Requiring 
Specialized Health Services”.  Steps that schools are required to take for students with food 
allergies, including development of an IHCP and Allergy Action Plan, are outlined in Chapter 9, 
“Nutritional Health”. 
 
Models of these forms, as well as the Massachusetts Asthma Action Plan, along with detailed 
instructions and information, legal requirements and resources are outlined in the Manual.  
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School nurses participate in development of ICHPs and are tasked with record keeping as well 
as communicating with parents/guardians and the Department of Health.  In schools with the 
Essential School Health Services program, school nurses must report the number of students 
with asthma, monthly peak flow measurements, nebulizer assessments, and medication use.  
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
Massachusetts provides official guidance for schools to manage food allergies through its 
publication, Managing Life Threatening Food Allergies in Schools, which was distributed to all 
school superintendents in 2002.  The booklet provides detailed guidelines and resources to help 
local districts develop their own policies covering nursing case management, medication 
management, health screenings, medical and emergency procedures, reporting, referrals and 
staff education.  
 
For asthma, Massachusetts aligns its law M.G.L. c.71B and implementation Code 603 C.M.R. 
28.00 with the provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).  Procedures 
for managing students with asthma are included in the Comprehensive School Health Manual 
from the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, updated in 2007, which instructs school 
nurses to use the Massachusetts Asthma Action Plan (MAAP) and coordinate the student’s care 
with the family, the student’s physician, and school staff members.  Other guidance and 
resources are also provided in the Manual.  
 
The Massachusetts Department of Public Health convened an Asthma Working Group in 2002.  
This coalition developed a state-wide Asthma Strategic Action Plan with components dedicated 
to school health, including development of standards for all Massachusetts schools.  The state 
funded 109 school districts (representing slightly less than a third of all Massachusetts public 
school districts) to develop model school health service programs called “Enhanced School 
Health Services” with asthma as a major focus.  Of these, 103 districts continued the ESHS in 
2005-2006, serving about 538,000 children.  
 
Health Services Capacity  
Massachusetts builds the health services capacity of its schools by promoting policies such as a 
nurse in every school, school-based health centers and case management for chronic illnesses.  
Student health services in Massachusetts are supervised by the Massachusetts Department of 
Public Health and are thoroughly detailed in its recently revised and updated Comprehensive 
School Health Manual, available at 
www.maclearinghouse.com/schoolhealthmanual/PDF/Program_binder.pdf.  
 
Massachusetts’ recommended nurse-to-student ratio is one full-time equivalent (FTE) certified 
nurse per 250 to 500 students.  Massachusetts has a State Health Services Coordinator and 
requires each school district to have a Health Services Coordinator.  The state supports 72 
school-based health centers (SBHCs).  SBHCs operate as licensed satellite clinics of a hospital 
or clinic and provide students with access to primary care in the school setting.  
 
Asthma management of children in schools with a SBHC is supported by the services of a 
primary health care practitioner and educational materials for children and their parents.  
 

Under the guidance of its publication, Managing Life Threatening Food Allergies in Schools, 
teachers and other school staff must receive training in school policies and procedures for food 

Awareness  
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allergies.  Massachusetts also requires training of foodservice personnel in serving students 
with special dietary needs and in procedures for dealing with allergic reactions to foods.  
 
Required staff development includes continuing education training or funding for school nurses 
in administration of medications; case management for students with chronic health conditions; 
identifying and tracking students with chronic health conditions; accessing benefits for students 
with disabilities; teaching self-management to students with chronic health conditions; tobacco 
use prevention and tobacco use cessation.  Asthma awareness training covering the schools’ 
asthma program, policy and procedures is required for all school staff.  
 
School nurses are responsible for coordinating activities for staff awareness and education 
regarding students with special health needs, including sharing Individual Health Care Plans as 
appropriate and coordinating with health and science teachers to include asthma awareness in 
the school health curriculum.  
 
School Environment  
 
Massachusetts established The Healthy Schools Council in 2001 to address environmental 
issues.  The inter-agency council is made up of representatives from the Departments of 
Education, Public Health, Labor and Workforce Development, Environmental Protection, and 
Food and Agriculture, the Division of Occupational Safety, the Executive Office of 
Environmental Affairs, the Office of Technical Assistance, the Attorney General’s Office, the 
State Fire Marshall’s Office and the Board of Higher Education.  The Council identified a list of 
the most important issues for schools to address in terms of environmental health and safety 
and drafted a resource booklet for state-wide distribution by the Department of Education (DOE) 
and others. Relevant issues covered are HVAC systems, IPM programs and vehicle exhaust 
concerns.  
 
Indoor Air Quality  
The Massachusetts Coalition for Occupational Safety and Health (MassCOSH) is promoting 
State Bill HD3056 to improve IAQ in schools, and encourage use of Tools for Schools. Current 
oversight of school maintenance is in part regulated by Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 
70B, #8 and Massachusetts Code Regulations Title 603, #38.14, which require school districts 
to spend a percentage of their funds allocated for maintenance in order to be eligible for state 
funding for school construction and emergency repairs.  Massachusetts General Law Chapter 
70B § 3 was amended in 2006 to create the Massachusetts School Building Authority and 
school building grants program for projects related to IAQ and other environmental issues.  
 
In addition, the DPH conducts an IAQ program that conducts assessments in public schools 
(and other public buildings) to evaluate the ventilation system, determine the potential for 
microbial growth and locate the point sources of environmental concerns.  
 
Chapter 208 of the Acts of 2004 established the Massachusetts School Building Authority, 
which assumed responsibility for the Commonwealth’s school building assistance (SBA) 
program.  The MSBA funds new school construction as well as renovation for Massachusetts 
schools. Funding is available for development of IAQ programs in schools.  
 
Chapter 85 of the Acts of 2000, Section 11 prohibits the spraying of pesticides indoor or outdoor 
on school property while children are present.  Written notification must be given to school staff, 
students, and their parents or guardians at least two working days before pesticides are applied 
and must be posted prior to the pesticide application in a common area.  The law further 
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requires each school to adopt and implement an integrated pest management plan that covers 
both indoor and outdoor areas.  
 
Outdoor Air Quality  
School bus retrofitting to reduce diesel exhaust has been undertaken in several Massachusetts 
communities including Boston, Medford, Mohawk and Cambridge.  Massachusetts General Law 
Chapter 90, Title 16A and the Department of Environmental Protection Regulation 310 CMR 
7.11(1) (b) limit idling of school buses to five minutes.  
 
Tobacco Policies  
General Law 71.2A prohibits tobacco use of any kind by any primary or secondary public school 
student on school grounds during normal hours.  General Law 71:37H also prohibits the use of 
any tobacco product within school buildings, school facilities or on school grounds or buses by 
any individual, including school personnel.  
 
Tobacco use prevention is required in the health curriculum for all students, and state funding is 
available for schools to develop and implement a tobacco use prevention program.  Smoking 
cessation services for students are not required.  
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NEW JERSEY  
 
New Jersey proactively addresses both asthma and allergies in its schools using a combination 
of legal requirements and voluntary programs.  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-1.4 (2001) states that each district board of education 
shall develop and adopt written policies and programs governing the administration of 
medications to students under a physician's order and the emergency administration of an 
epinephrine auto-injector to a student for anaphylaxis.  
 
New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-2.3 (2001) requires each district board of education to 
develop and adopt written administration of medication policies and procedures in consultation 
with a school physician.  The statute authorizes the school physician, a certified or non-certified 
school nurse, a substitute school nurse, the student's parent or guardian, the student (if 
approved to self-administer), and other designated and trained school employees to administer 
medication.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.3 (2001) permits the self-administration of asthma medication by a student 
for asthma or another potentially life-threatening illness, provided that written authorization for 
self-administration of medication and written certification of the student's ability to self-
administer from the parent is given, and written notification of the district's exemption from 
liability resulting from injury is given to and signed by the parents.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.5

• Placement of a pupil’s prescribed epinephrine in a secure but unlocked location easily 
accessible by the school nurse and designees  

 (2007) requires each board of education or chief administrator to develop 
a policy for the emergency administration of epinephrine via a pre-filled auto-injector mechanism 
to a pupil for anaphylaxis.  The policy must require:  
 

• The school nurse or designee to be promptly available on-site at the school and school-
sponsored functions in the event of an allergic reaction  

• Transportation of the pupil to a hospital emergency room by emergency services 
personnel after the administration of epinephrine  

 
This law also specifies that epinephrine auto-injectors be kept in all classrooms.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.5 (2007) requires each local board or chief administrator to inform parents 
or guardians in writing that if the administration of epinephrine procedures are followed, the 
district and its employees shall have no liability as a result of any injury arising from the 
administration of the epinephrine auto injector to the student.  The parents or guardians are then 
required to sign a statement acknowledging their understanding of this statute.  
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N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.6 (1997) allows school employees to administer epinephrine auto-injectors if 
they have received proper training by the school nurse.  In New Jersey, all  
levels of emergency medical technicians are allowed to carry and trained to use epinephrine 
auto-injectors.  
 
Identification and Reporting 
New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-2.2 (2001) requires students to receive a medical 
examination upon school entry and at least one time during each developmental stage (early 
childhood, pre-adolescence, adolescence).  Parents are notified that these exams should be 
performed by the family physician, who must enter the information on a state form, which is sent 
to the school and maintained in the student’s health records.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-4 (1997) and New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-1.5 (2001) require a 
health record to be kept for each pupil.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.7 (1997) stipulates that each public and nonpublic school shall have and 
maintain for the use of pupils at least one nebulizer in the office of the school nurse or similar 
accessible location.  
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
Under New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-1.4

• Develop an asthma management program for their school  

, district school boards are required to 
develop and adopt written policies and procedures governing the provision of school health 
services, including the treatment of asthma and the handling of medical emergencies.  
 
The New Jersey Department of Education (NJDOE), Office of Education Support Services has 
developed the School Health Services Guidelines to assist school nurses in providing a 
comprehensive health program in the context of the requirements of New Jersey Statutes and 
regulations.  These Guidelines instruct certified school nurses to:  
 

• Develop school policies and procedures to meet the needs of students with asthma, 
referencing P.L. 1993, c. 308 supplementing 

• Individualize an asthma action plan for students with asthma, signed by the student’s 
parent or guardian and healthcare provider  

N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.3  

• Write an Individualized Healthcare Plan (IHP or IHCP) and Individualized Emergency 
Healthcare Plan (IEP) as appropriate, in collaboration with the student, the 
parent/guardian and the student’s healthcare provider  

 
In addition, the Pediatric/Adult Asthma Coalition of New Jersey (PACNJ) provides resources to 
make schools ready for students with asthma, including nurse and teacher training materials, 
Tools for Schools, the no-idling pledge, certification that the school has a nebulizer, and Asthma 
Action Plan training module.  By June 2008, 402 schools had been awarded the PACNJ Asthma 
Friendly Schools Award using this program.  The Asthma Action Plan is collaborative among 
NJPAC, New Jersey Department of Health and Human Services (NJDHSS) and NJDOE.  
 
N.J.S.A. 18A:40-12.8 requires that an asthma treatment plan be prepared by the student’s 
physician for each pupil authorized to use asthma medication or a nebulizer.  According to the 
School Health Services Guidelines, school nurses are responsible for coordinating management 
of students with asthma with their parents/guardians, healthcare providers, school personnel, 
and community agencies.  
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N.J.S.A 18A:40-12.6a (2007) requires the NJDOE to establish and disseminate guidelines to 
each local board of education and each nonpublic school for the development of a policy for 
management of food allergies in the school setting.  Senate Resolution 111 (2003) urges school 
districts to provide education and information for students and staff on the severe dangers faced 
by children who are allergic to peanuts and to establish peanut-free areas in their cafeterias.  
 
Nurses are instructed to develop IHPs and IEPs for students who have been identified with 
special health needs and make them readily accessible in their individual health records.  
 
Health Services Capacity  
New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-2.1

• Provide nursing services  

 (2001) requires each district board of education to 
appoint at least one school physician and one full-time equivalent certified school nurse to:  
 

• Train, direct, and supervise designated school staff in the emergency administration of 
epinephrine  

• Develop a school nursing services plan assigning non-certified nurses to perform duties 
permitted under their licenses from the State Board of Nursing  

 
New Jersey has a state Health Services Coordinator, and each district is required to a Health 
Services Coordinator as well.  There are 31 school-based health centers, which offer a full 
range of outpatient medical services to students in facilities located on or near school 
campuses.  
 
Schools are required to provide case management for students with chronic health conditions 
and to provide local health care navigation services as appropriate.  
 
Awareness  
 
Asthma awareness training is included in the health curriculum for all students, and the state 
requires that students with asthma or allergy be taught about self-managing their condition.  
 
School nurses are responsible for coordinating activities for staff awareness and education 
regarding students with special health needs, including asthma and anaphylaxis.  The 
Guidelines instruct nurses to “conduct general staff training to provide an overview of the 
student’s condition and healthcare needs.  Include all staff who are in contact with the student, 
including bus drivers, lunchroom personnel and playground staff.”  The state requires that 
training in food allergies covering the school’s program, policy and procedures be provided to 
faculty and other staff.  In addition, foodservice personnel are required to be trained in serving 
students with special dietary needs, according to the guidelines of the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture for all schools participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast programs.  
 
Staff development requirements for school nurses include continuing education training in 
administration of medications; case management for students with chronic health conditions; 
identifying students with chronic health conditions; and teaching self-management to students 
with chronic health conditions.  
 
Asthma awareness training covering the school’s asthma program, policy and procedures is 
required for teachers and other school staff.  Tobacco use prevention training is required for 
health education teachers.  
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School Environment  
 
Indoor Air Quality  
Responsibility for healthy schools is shared among several state agencies and is primarily 
regulated by the labor code, since school districts are considered employers according to 
N.J.S.A. 34:13A-3.  
 
N.J.S.A. 34:5A-10.2 (1997) prohibits the use of hazardous substances in any public school 
building or on school grounds when children are expected to be present.  A program conducted 
by the New Jersey DHHS, the “Indoor Environments Program”, is targeted at reducing exposure 
to mold and other indoor environmental pollutants.  
 
New Jersey Administrative Code 12:100-13.3-8 (1997) establishes regulations for HVAC 
maintenance and mold prevention practices, as well as agency inspections and enforcement.  
The regulations require that maintenance records are retained and made available to school 
employees upon request.  The Public Employees Occupational Safety and Health (PEOSH) 
program provides an Indoor Air Quality Standard Inspection Checklist of compliance measures.  
School inspections may also be conducted by the state health agency in response to specific 
complaints, and the state health agency may provide technical assistance to schools on IAQ 
matters.  
 
In addition, N.J.S.A. § 18A:7G-3, 9(b)(3) and 13(d) require the Department of Education to 
promulgate rules requiring school districts to have comprehensive maintenance plans for school 
facilities. Regulations adopted under the law (N.J. Admin. Code tit. 6, § 26A-2.1) require that 
maintenance activities include tests to monitor air quality.  
 
Outdoor Air Quality  
N.J.S.A. 13:1F-22b (2002) requires the superintendent of each school district to adopt and 
implement a school integrated pest management (IPM) policy for the school property, consistent 
with the Pesticide Control Act of 1971.  The parents or guardians of all students and the staff 
members of each school must receive notification from the local school board or principal at 
least 72 hours before the application of pesticides (N.J.S.A. 13:1F-25, 2002). Further, N.J.S.A. 
13:1F-26 (2002) requires the local school board to post prominent signs with notice of pesticide 
application -- either within or adjacent to the area to be treated and at each entrance to the 
school building or grounds to be treated.  
 
New Jersey DEP promotes StoptheSoot.org, advocating both diesel retrofitting and anti-idling. 
New Jersey Administrative Code 7:27-14.2 limits idling of heavy-duty vehicles to three minutes.  
Buses may idle longer while picking up or discharging passengers, but not waiting for 
passengers.  In addition, a voluntary anti-idling program is in effect.  School officials and school-
bus drivers are being asked to pledge voluntarily to eliminate idling; at least 68 school districts 
have signed the “no-idling pledge”.   
 
Tobacco Policies 
N.J.S.A. 26:3D-17 (2005) and New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-3.1(a)7

“School grounds” includes any school land or facilities used for academic or extracurricular 
programs by the district, according to 

 (2001) mandate 
the local board of education of each school district to make and enforce regulation prohibiting 
tobacco use anywhere in its buildings or on school grounds.  
 

New Jersey Administrative Code 6A:16-1.3 (2001).  The 
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code further specifies that portions of land, school facilities, and other facilities owned by local 
municipalities or other individuals that are under exclusive use of the school district also 
constitute school grounds.  
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RHODE ISLAND  
 
Rhode Island addresses asthma and anaphylaxis in its Rules and Regulations for School Health 
Programs, updated and amended in January 2007.  These regulations require that all public and 
private schools “have a comprehensive school health program consisting of health education, 
health services and a healthful school environment, approved by the State Commissioner of 
Elementary and Secondary Education” (R16-21-SCHO, 2003).  Rhode Island’s comprehensive 
school health program, entitled “Thrive”, is based on the Coordinated School Health Program 
model developed by the Centers for Disease Control and is detailed on its Web site, 
www.thriveri.org/index.html.  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
Section 18.0 of the Rules and Regulations for School Health Programs requires that the school 
physician for each public school develop protocols and procedures related to the administration 
of medication in schools.  Section 19.9 directs that all school districts shall develop protocols or 
procedures to permit students to self-carry and/or self-administer prescription medication 
according to the conditions of a written agreement among the student, parent or guardian, 
certified school nurse-teacher or registered nurse, and licensed prescribing health care provider.  
RIGL 16-21-22 and RIGL 16-21-22 also ensure students’ right to carry and use prescription 
epinephrine auto-injectors and inhalers.  
 
The Rules and Regulations specify conditions under which other school personnel may 
administer medications, the training required to do so, and protection against liability when 
medication is administered in an emergency situation.  Regulations governing storage of 
medications indicate that extra epinephrine kits and inhalers should be available in the school.  
 
In Rhode Island, all levels of emergency medical technicians are allowed to carry and trained to 
use epinephrine auto-injectors. 
 
Identification and Reporting  
According to the Rules and Regulations for School Health Programs, any student with a chronic 
disease or a long-term health issue is entitled to have an individual health care plan (IHCP) and 
an emergency health care plan (ECP), developed collaboratively by the certified school nurse-
teacher, the family, the student, and the primary care provider (Part III, Section 6.3).  Any 
teachers, administrators, and other school personnel who may be involved in the care of the 
student must be informed of the plans.  
 
IHCPs and ECPs include descriptions of all services that will be provided to the student, the 
people responsible for providing service, training requirements of these people, and other 
information.  
 
The plan is entered into the student’s cumulative health record, which transfers with the student 
if the student moves to another school and is maintained by the school for a minimum of five 
years after the student turns 18 or leaves the school district (Part III, Section 14.3).  
In addition to the IHCP and ECP, the health record includes documentation of any episodes of 
sudden illness, nursing assessments, consultations, and instructions and permissions regarding 
medications (Part III, Section 14.1).  
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Each school district must also develop procedures and protocols for documenting and 
implementing a follow-up and referral plan for students identified as needing additional services 
(Part III, Section 15.2). 
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
Schools are required to have written protocols and standing orders available in the event of 
acute illnesses, including anaphylaxis.  These orders must be reviewed and updated at least 
annually by the school physician and must be reviewed annually by all school personnel who 
might have to be involved in managing an emergency situation (Part III, Section 17.1).  Schools 
are required to develop procedures for addressing incidents of anaphylaxis and to provide 
training for any school personnel who might need to administer an epinephrine auto-injector 
during an emergency (Part III, Section 17.2).  
 
A law passed in the 2007 legislative session specifically addresses the issue of peanut and tree 
nut allergies in schools (H5671 Sub A as amended).  The law is mandatory for all elementary 
and middle schools and is recommended for high schools.  If there is a student in a school 
identified with a peanut or tree nut allergy, the district/school must post a notice within the 
school in a conspicuous place at every point of entry and within the cafeteria providing notice 
that a student in the school has an allergy to peanuts/tree nuts; prohibit the sale of peanuts/tree 
nuts, peanut butter and other peanut-based products in the school cafeteria; designate a 
peanut/tree nut free table in the cafeteria; designate a table in the cafeteria as “peanut/tree nut” 
table; and designate one classroom per grade to be peanut/tree nut free. Families of all 
students in a class are notified if a child in that class has a food allergy.  
 
Asthma is addressed not only within the comprehensive school health program, but also in a 
state-wide program, the Rhode Island Asthma Control Program.  The Rhode Island Department 
of Health began this program in 1999 under a grant from CDC.  
 
Health Services Capacity  
Every public school has a certified school nurse-teacher assigned to provide services at that 
school (RIGL §16-21-8).  While most middle and high schools have a full-time nurse, many 
elementary schools share a nurse between two or three schools in a district.  
 
Rhode Island does not require a specific nurse-to-student ratio, but the Rules and Regulations 
direct school districts to provide “adequate and appropriate personnel” to conduct mandated 
population-based health services and individualized health services to all students.  
 
The Rules and Regulations further state that at all times, during normal school hours at on-site 
school-sponsored activities, each school shall have available at least one person other than the 
certified school nurse-teacher who is trained, competent and responsible for the administration 
of basic first aid, including the administration of the epinephrine auto-injector.  
 
Each district must employ a school physician to provide oversight, supervision, guidance, and 
consultation to the school nurses and to the district and schools in establishing appropriate 
health policies and protocols (RIGL §16-21-7).  Schools also have access to health services 
coordinators at both the state and district-levels. 
 
Rhode Island supports seven school-based health centers, a ratio of about one for every 48 
public schools.  These facilities provide a full range of outpatient physical and mental health 
services to students enrolled in Rhode Island public schools.  
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Awareness  
 
Staff development requirements include continuing education training or funding for school 
nurses in identifying and tracking students with chronic health conditions and teaching self-
management to students with chronic health conditions.  Asthma and allergy awareness is 
included in the school health curriculum for all students.  
 
School Environment  
 
Indoor Air Quality  
Rhode Island schools are governed by the state’s Division of Occupational Safety standards, 
which address some, but not all potential triggers for asthma.  Part IV, Sections 21-23 of the 
Rules and Regulations deal with standards for existing school buildings as well as new 
construction.  The rules require annual inspections of schools, and schools cannot open if they 
have not passed inspection by the state’s Fire Department, Department of Health, Department 
of Labor and Training, and Division of Occupational Safety by August 1 each year.  
 
IAQ is addressed as a goal in the state’s Asthma Control Program: Objective 3 calls for 
development of an instrument to test IAQ in Rhode Island public schools at least once every 
four years.  
 
The Rules and Regulations prohibit the application of pesticides in any school building or on 
school grounds during school hours or planned activities, and require written notice to parents 
and staff on the board of education’s policy on pesticide application as well as a description of 
any pesticide applications made at the school during the previous school year.  
 
Parents or guardians may register to receive prior notice of pesticide application at their child’s 
school.  Rhode Island recommends that schools adopt an Integrated Pest Management (IPM) 
program and provides funding or staff development to train school personnel how to implement 
an IPM program.  
 
Outdoor Air Quality  
School bus retrofit projects have been undertaken in Warwick and Cranston with support from 
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.  In 2006, the Warwick Public School Department 
became the first in Rhode Island to retrofit its entire fleet of 50 school buses.  Using a Clean 
School Bus USA grant, Warwick applied a combination of diesel oxidation catalysts and 
crankcase controls to reduce emissions from each bus by more than 30%.  
 
Rhode Island recently enacted anti-idling laws that cover school buses.  All diesel engine motor 
vehicles including school buses are prohibited from idling more than five consecutive minutes in 
any 60-minute period by Air Pollution Control Regulation No. 45 of the Rhode Island Diesel 
Engine Anti-Idling Program, authorized by Rhode Island General Laws §23-23-29 and §31-16.1, 
effective July 19, 2007.  
 
Tobacco Policies 
All tobacco use must be prohibited on school premises and at school-sponsored activities, 
according to Rules and Regulations 2.2.3.  Tobacco use prevention is required in the health 
curriculum for students and smoking cessation services are provided for all school personnel.  
The state also provides funding or staff development to schools/districts on how to implement a 
tobacco use prevention program.  
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VERMONT  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
Existing Vermont policy states that only the school nurse/associate school nurse, the student’s 
parent/guardian, or the school nurse’s trained designees may administer medication in the 
school setting.  However, with training, a student may be such a designee.  School nurses are 
required to instruct and monitor students who, with a doctor’s order, are self-administering their 
medication in the school setting.  Prescription medications must be stored in a locked container 
unless the student is self-administering medication.  
 
In order for any prescription medications to be administered at school, written orders from a 
physician must be provided, including the name of the drug, dosage, diagnosis, reason for 
giving and any further instructions; as well, written permission from the parent or guardian must 
be provided requesting that the school district comply with the physician’s order.  With these 
provisions, students may self-carry and self-administer asthma and allergy medications.  
 
School nurses are instructed to maintain extra epinephrine auto-injectors for cases of unknown 
allergy.  
 
Vermont is promoting the Coordinated School Health Program and has established a School 
Health Coordinating Council and a School Health Action Committee to evaluate school health 
programs and help schools implement the CSHP.  Although it is not mandatory that all schools 
adopt a CSHP program, 16 V.S.A. Chapter 5, §216 (Wellness Program) states, “all schools 
should strive toward incorporating a coordinated school health approach to enhance student 
health outcomes and academic achievement”.  It is suggested that the school nurse assume the 
role of facilitator of a school health team.  
 
Identification and Reporting  
School nurses are instructed to coordinate information with the student’s parents and physician, 
develop an Individual Health Care Plan including Emergency Plan, obtain needed medication 
from the parent, train staff, and document staff training for response to allergic emergencies.  
Additional suggested roles are to educate the school community about allergic reactions and 
treatment, collaborate with the school administration to develop preventative measures, and 
develop a protocol for incidents with unknown allergies.  
 
Nurses must identify and manage students with asthma or life-threatening allergies, and 
appropriate forms are provided for screening, maintaining records and developing individual 
care plans.  
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
Act 158: An Act Relating to Life-Threatening Chronic Allergies and Illnesses in Schools dictates 
appropriate policies and practices to be adopted by schools.  An annual letter is sent from the 
Vermont Department of Health to all Vermont school boards, superintendents and principals 
with a list of the school’s responsibilities and legal authority, along with links to policies, 
guidelines and resources for serving students with life-threatening allergies and chronic 
illnesses, including asthma.  
 
Health Services Capacity 
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The Vermont Standards of Practice School Health Services Manual, available in full on the 
Vermont Department of Education Web site, explains in detail the student health services 
offered in Vermont schools, along with the required and suggested roles of the school nurse and 
associate school nurse.  
 
In Vermont, the ratio of school nurse-to-students must be 1:750 or better, and each school must 
have full-time coverage by either a school nurse or a trained associate.  Schools also have a 
consulting physician.  Each school must have a Health Services Coordinator, and the state has 
one as well.  
 
Awareness  
 
Continuing education training or staff development funding for school nurses is provided in 
accessing benefits for students with disabilities, administration of medications, case 
management for students with chronic health conditions, identification or school-based 
management of students with chronic health conditions, and teaching self-management of 
chronic health conditions such as asthma.  
 
School Environment  
 
Indoor Air Quality  
Vermont’s “Project Envision--Promoting Healthy School Environments” program was developed 
in response to passage of Act 125, which directs the Commissioners of Health, Education, and 
Buildings and General Services to develop an environmental health program for schools.  The 
program includes a model policy and procedures, creates a clearinghouse of information, 
provides technical assistance to schools and holds workshops for school personnel to improve 
school environments.  
 
The model policy was required to include a recommended maintenance schedule and checklist 
for maintenance of the heating and ventilation systems.  
 
Project Envision encourages schools to use the EPA’s Tools for Schools kit, which includes 
reduction of asthma triggers and implementation of best practices for asthma management.  
Participation in Project Envision is voluntary; 102 schools were enrolled as of 2004.  IAQ and 
environmental procedures in participating schools are audited annually.  
 
Act 125 also provides a model policy for Integrated Pest Management (IPM), which is 
recommended for all schools.  The policy restricts pesticide application in areas surrounding the 
schools, requires parental notification prior to pesticide applications, and requires that schools 
post signs notifying the community when pesticides are to be applied.  
 
Outdoor Air Quality  
Local efforts have begun to retrofit or replace diesel engine school buses, but there is no state-
wide effort to do so.  
 
Proposed Rule 6001 limits the idling of school buses while waiting to board or exit students at 
school, and requires the State Board of Education to adopt rules implementing school bus idling 
limitations.  A letter urging school bus idling reduction and a package of information about the 
health hazards of bus exhaust has been distributed to school superintendents. 
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In addition, Act 48 of 2007 Section 2 permits school boards to limit idling on school grounds by 
vehicles other than school buses and required a model policy to be developed by the 
Department of Education by January 2008.  
 
Tobacco Policies  
All Vermont schools prohibit tobacco use by anyone in school buildings, on school grounds or at 
school-sponsored functions.  Tobacco use prevention is required in the health education 
curriculum for all students as well as in staff development training.  
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WASHINGTON  
 
Medication & Treatment  
 
Medication Policies  
Under Substitute Senate Bill 5841, Chapter 462, Laws of 2005, students are ensured the right to 
carry and self-administer asthma medications and auto-injectable epinephrine, provided that:  
 

A health care practitioner (HCP) has prescribed the medication and instructed the 
student in correct and responsible use; the student has demonstrated adequate skill 
level to the school nurse as well as the HCP or designee; the HCP formulates a written 
treatment plan for managing asthma or anaphylaxis episodes of the student and for 
medication use by the student during school hours; and the student’s parent or guardian 
has completed and submitted to the school the written documentation required, including 
the treatment plan above and a statement releasing the school from liability.  

 
School districts are also required to keep backup medicine for the student’s use, if provided by 
the parent or guardian.  In Washington, all levels of emergency medical technicians are allowed 
to carry and trained to use epinephrine auto-injectors.  
 
Identification and Reporting  
School nurses are required to identify children with life-threatening conditions before the school 
year begins and to develop individual and emergency care plans in coordination with the health 
care providers, parents, school personnel and students.  This applies to both asthma and 
allergy.  Written incident reports are required for asthma or anaphylaxis episodes, and schools 
are required to report incidents to parents, teachers and the state health authorities.  
 
Asthma and Allergy Management Policies  
In 2005, Washington passed legislation requiring the superintendent of public instruction to 
develop a uniform policy for all school districts providing for: in-service training for school staff 
on the symptoms, treatment, and monitoring of students with asthma, including the standards 
and skills for training; adoption of policies regarding asthma rescue procedures; authorization 
for students to carry and self-administer medication to treat their asthma or anaphylaxis; 
maintenance of backup medications at school; maintenance of easily accessible, individual files 
containing information about dealing with an asthma or anaphylaxis emergency.  
 
The Washington State Asthma Plan, developed in 2005, provides detailed guidelines and 
information to help schools implement their asthma policies.  
 
As a prerequisite for attending public school, all children in the state of Washington must 
present a medication or treatment order from their health care provider addressing any life-
threatening health condition that may need to be treated at school, according to RCW 28A.210-
.320.  
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Health Services Capacity  
Schools are required to provide case management, coordination of care and mental health 
counseling if needed for students with chronic conditions.  
 
Washington schools do not currently require or recommend a nurse-to-student ratio of 1:750, as 
is recommended by the National Association of School Nurses as well as Healthy People 2010.  
Washington currently recommends a school district nurse-to-student ratio of 1:1500, but 
according to the Washington State Asthma Plan, “Washington State falls far short of these 
goals.  In rural districts, many schools have access to a nurse only half a day or less per week, 
and nurses may be driving hundreds of miles each week to service these schools.  In large 
districts, a nurse may service multiple schools, spending one day per week at each site.”  
 
Washington has 10 school-based health centers, a ratio of about one for every 220 public 
schools.  These facilities, which provide a full range of outpatient physical and mental health 
services to students, help where available but are not numerous enough to fill the service gap.  
 
Schools have access to a State Health Services Coordinator.  
 
Awareness  
 
Washington also provides for the appointment of a coordinator for staff training in 
asthma/allergy awareness.  School nurses must also educate staff about the special needs of 
these children, negotiate classroom accommodations, and provide and/or monitor and 
supervise provision of services such as medication administration, peak flow monitoring, 
nebulizer treatments and counseling.  
 
RCW 43.20.145, “Food service rules”, mandates schools to follow the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture’s guidelines for food service personnel, under which students with food allergy must 
be served special meals if they provide a written statement from their physician.  Foodservice 
staff is required to receive training in serving students with special dietary needs as well as 
procedures for dealing with allergic reactions to food.  Additionally, staff training in food allergies 
is provided to all teachers and other school staff.  
 
Staff development requirements for school nurses include continuing education training in 
administration of medications; case management for students with chronic health conditions; 
identifying and tracking students with chronic health conditions; accessing benefits for students 
with disabilities; teaching self-management to students with chronic health conditions; tobacco 
use prevention; and tobacco use cessation.  Asthma awareness training covering the schools’ 
asthma program, policy and procedures is required for all school staff.  
 
Washington’s Health and Fitness Essential Academic Learning Requirements (2002) require 
students to receive instruction on non-communicable diseases such as asthma, and 
environmentally related health concerns, including asthma.  
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School Environment 
 
Indoor Air Quality 
Washington does not have a mandatory indoor air quality (IAQ) policy for schools.  However, 
RCW 43.20.050 and WAC 246-366-080 require schools to control environmental conditions 
including pesticides, molds, excessive heat and ventilation.  
 
The state board of health has the authority and a procedure for oversight of IAQ in schools.  
Washington Rev Code 43.20.050 and Washington Admin Code 246-366 require local health 
departments to conduct periodic inspections of schools for compliance with state environmental 
health standards.  
 
RCW 70.162.050 allows the superintendent of instruction to implement a model program in a 
district that evaluates the current indoor air quality in the district and establishes procedures to 
ensure the maintenance and operation of any ventilation and filtration system.  
 
The state also provides funding or staff development to schools/districts on how to implement 
an IAQ policy.  
 
Washington does not require, but does recommend that schools follow an integrated pest 
management (IPM) program and provides funding for staff development on IPM implementation.  
RCS 17.21.415 requires that schools notify parents of upcoming pesticide applications and post 
warnings and/or otherwise notify the community of pesticide applications.  
 
Outdoor Air Quality  
Washington has been very proactive with its School Bus Retrofit Program.  Among its recent 
successes are:  
 
(1) 213 school buses have been retrofitted with diesel oxidation catalysts (DOCs) under the 
Diesel Solutions Program of the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency, and 600 more DOCs are on 
order.  Some school districts are using ultra-low sulfur diesel.  
 
(2) The Washington Department of Ecology has provided a revenue source for retrofitting 
school buses state-wide, with an initial goal of 1,000 school buses.  Three school districts in the 
Olympia area together operate 49 dedicated or bio-fuel natural gas-powered buses.  
 
(3) Biodiesel fuel will soon be used by school districts in Puget Sound and Spokane.  In school 
year 2006-2007, Washington was one of 11 states to put hybrid school buses into service.  
 
(4) The Puget Sound Clean Air Agency received an EPA Grant for the “Western Washington 
Clean Buses, Healthy Kids Retrofit Project”, which will begin school bus retrofits in small, 
economically stressed rural public school districts in Western Washington.  
 
(5) Anti-idling efforts are voluntary.  One program, conducted as a cooperative effort of the 
Washington Department of Ecology, the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality and 
Washington and Oregon’s local air agencies, is entitled the “No Idle Zone - Dare to Care About 
the Air”.  This program is designed to motivate bus drivers, parents and others to turn off their 
engines rather than idling vehicles at schools.  In 2004, it was piloted at three local schools and 
showed a 56% reduction in idling in school pick-up/drop-off areas when compared to the non-
pilot schools.  
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Tobacco Policies  
Smoking is prohibited for all persons in all school sites, including school buildings and grounds, 
school buses and at off-campus school functions under to RCW 28A.210.310 (1997).  
 
Tobacco use prevention is required in the health curriculum for all students, and tobacco use 
prevention training is required for health education teachers.  The state has provided funding or 
staff development to schools/districts on how to implement a tobacco-use prevention program.  
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